FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/13/2022 10:44 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/13/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101013-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM

State of Washington v. Junjie Gong Court of Appeals No. 83305-7-I

State of Washington,

Respondent,

v.

Junjie Gong

Petitioner,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Zachary C. Wagnild

Attorney for Petitioner
Law Office of Zachary C. Wagnild, PLLC
705 Second Avenue, Suite 1111
Seattle, WA 98104
zach@wagnildlaw.com
(206) 623-5822

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Junjie Gong ("Mr. Gong"), appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Junjie Gong requests review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in <u>State of Washington v. Junjie Gong</u>, filed May 16, 2022, No. 83305-7-I, affirming his convictions for attempted rape of a child in the second degree and felony communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, in the Pierce County Superior Court. *See* Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED

A. Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals erred by holding that Det. Gasser, who was part of a police task force, was permitted to testify about the contents of a conversation that she had with Mr. Gong despite the fact that the conversation was simultaneously being unlawfully recorded by other members of the task force?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On July 30, 2018, Appellant Junjie Gong was charged with Attempted Rape of a Child in the Second Degree and Felony Communicating with a Minor for Immoral Purposes. CP 1-2. The charges arose from his contact with undercover officers posing as a 13-year-old girl and his alleged attempt to meet her for sex. Id. Trial commenced on February 12, 2020 before the Honorable Kathryn Nelson. RP I. ¹ Prior to beginning jury selection, the defense brought a motion to dismiss the case for the State's failure to preserve exculpatory evidence. CP 3-28, RP I. This motion was denied and a jury trial commenced on February 12, 2020 and ran through February 25, 2020. CP 90-92. On February 25, 2020 the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges. RP VIII 772.

On April 3, 2020 Mr. Gong was sentenced to 76.5 months to life on count I (Attempted Rape of a Child in the Second Degree) and 9

-

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings consists of 10 separately paginated volumes, each volume representing a separate day. However, because a substitute court reporter was used on the afternoon of February 19, 2020, there are two volumes labelled Volume I. Therefore, Appellant refers to them as follows:

RP I – hearings on 2/12/20; RP II – trial proceedings on 2/13/20; RP III – trial proceedings on 2/18/20; RP IV – trial proceedings on the morning of 2/19/20; RP V – trial proceedings on 2/20/20; RP VII – trial proceedings on 2/24/20; RP VII – trial proceedings on 2/26/20; RP VII – trial proceedings on 2/26/20; RP IX – sentencing hearing on 4/3/20; RP X – trial proceedings on the afternoon of 2/19/20.

months on Count II (Communicating with a Minor for Immoral Purposes). CP 15-165. He timely filed his notice of appeal on April 3, 2020. CP 166-167.

On May 16, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued a decision denying Mr. Gong's appeal. Mr. Gong now petitions this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision affirming his conviction.

B. FACTS

1. Net Nanny Operation

The charges against Mr. Gong in this case stem from his communication and eventual meeting with undercover law enforcement officers from the Washington State Patrol (hereinafter "WSP") who were playing the role of a fictitious 13-year-old girl nicknamed "Kacityler." RP V 20-21. This undercover operation was one of many such operations (dubbed "Net Nanny") performed by a task force comprised of members of the WSP and federal law enforcement agencies. RP III 191-192.

In late July 2018 the task force placed a "profile" for an 18-yearold female sex-worker on the adult website Adultlook.com.² Exhibit 1. In

5

² A "profile" is essentially an online ad for a sex-worker that provides information about the sex-worker including age, physical details, activities that they will and will not engage in, geographical location, and contact information such as email address and/or phone number.

addition to the fact that the profile itself was for an adult, Adultlook.com had a pop-up notice that appeared to all website visitors informing them that the website did not allow minors to use the site. RP III 211-212, Exhibit 28. The pop-up notice appeared over the website page and blocked visitors from seeing the content until they acknowledged that they had seen the notice by clicking on a button that said "Agree." RP III 213-215.

On July 27, 2018 Junjie Gong, a 26-year-old Chinese immigrant, visited the Adultlook.com website and, after seeing the profile for 18-year-old "Kacityler" that Sgt. McDonald with the Washington State Patrol had listed, responded by sending a text message to the mobile number listed in the profile. RP III 225, 242-243. Upon receiving Mr. Gong's text message Sgt. McDonald responded and the two text-messaged back and forth for several minutes without any mention by Sgt. McDonald of the 13-year-old girl he was supposed to be. Exhibit 2. Prior to Sgt. McDonald texting Mr. Gong that he was 13 rather than the 18 age that was stated in the profile, Mr. Gong inquired about prices to which Sgt. McDonald simply responded "Depends." Exhibit 2. After this brief exchange about prices, Sgt. McDonald texted Mr. Gong stating that "Kacityler" was actually 13. Following that announcement by Sgt. McDonald there were no further texts or conversations about payment for

sex between Mr. Gong and any of the task force members. Exhibit 2; RP V 447. Instead, what followed were texts from Mr. Gong showing confusion and skepticism that the person he was communicating with was actually a 13-year-old girl. Exhibit 2. For example, he repeatedly asked if he was communicating with a cop and made statements indicating that he wasn't certain about the actual age of the person with whom he was Furthering Mr. Gong's confusion, Sgt. McDonald texting. Exhibit 2. sent him a photo that he claimed was of "Kacityler." Exhibit 2. However, the photo that was sent to Mr. Gong was not that of a 13-year-old girl but rather a photo of Det. Gasser, a 28-year-old woman.³ RP V 436-437. Shortly thereafter, Det. Gasser spoke to Mr. Gong on the telephone for approximately six minutes. RP X 41. This conversation was not recorded but Det. Gasser testified about it on direct examination. RP V 439, RP X 29-41. She mentioned that Mr. Gong had an Asian accent and that he apologized for his poor English; explaining that English was not his first language. RP X 35-36, V 443-444. According to Det. Gasser there was no discussion of payment for sex during the phone conversation between

_

³ Det. Gasser conceded that she had provided a picture of herself from when she was a teenager to the task force for use in the operation but that, for reasons she did not know, Sgt. McDonald elected to send a picture of her when she was an adult to Mr. Gong rather than from when she was a teenager. RP V 436-437.

her and Mr. Gong. RP V 447. However, they did discuss contraception, sexual experience, and the need for hygiene. RP X 39-41.

After being directed to go to a private residence, Mr. Gong arrived in the early morning hours of July 28, 2018. RP X 45. Unbeknownst to him, the residence was a "target house" set up by the task force that was outfitted with both video and audio surveillance devices both inside and outside of the home. RP X 45. Waiting for him inside was Det. Gasser dressed in undercover clothes. RP X 45-46. Also inside was an arrest team that was hiding out of sight in bedrooms that were adjacent to the main room where the front door was located. RP X 45-46. When Mr. Gong knocked on the door Det. Gasser answered and invited him inside. RP X 67. After entering the residence and seeing Det. Gasser in person, Mr. Gong asked her how old she was. RP X 67. When Det. Gasser responded that she was 13 Mr. Gong exclaimed "Really?" and, according to Det. Gasser, appeared "surprised." RP X 67-68. Det. Gasser responded, "Yeah" and then announced that she was going to go prepare to take a shower and began leading Mr. Gong towards the back of the house. RP X 67-68. At this point the arrest team came out of hiding and informed Mr. Gong that he was being audio recorded. RP X 67-68. Unbeknownst to Mr. Gong, the arrest team had actually begun audio recording his interaction with Det. Gasser shortly after he entered the target house but before it came out of hiding and notified him that he was being audio recorded. RP V 464-465.⁴ As a result, the aforementioned conversation between Mr. Gong and undercover Det. Gasser regarding her age was audio recorded without Mr. Gong's knowledge or consent. RP V 464-465.

After being placed under arrest Mr. Gong was interrogated by Detective Garden and another member of the arrest team. RP VI 635. The interrogation lasted for approximately an hour and was done without the aid of an interpreter. RP VI 635. While the operation typically utilized two recorders to capture suspect interviews, during Mr. Gong's interview both recorders failed to work properly and only a portion of the interview was actually recorded. RP II 106-107. During trial the prosecutor elicited testimony about the unrecorded portion of the interrogation including statements Mr. Gong made about his ethnicity, how long he had been in the United States, what he was doing while here, and why he came to the United States. RP VI 632-633. During the recorded portion of the conversation Mr. Gong, after apologizing for his poor English, explained in broken English that he did not intend to have

_

⁴ Although she was part of the task force and aware that the "trap house" was wired with recording devices, Det. Gasser testified out of the presence of the jury that she was unaware that other members of her task force had begun recording the conversation as soon as Mr. Gong entered the home.

sex with a minor but decided to come meet "Kacityler" because he was "curious." P VI 652-653. The recorded portion of the interrogation was played for the jury and Det. Garden testified from his notes about the unrecorded portion of the interrogation. RP VI.

2. Trial

During direct examination of Det. Gasser the prosecutor, without first bringing the unlawful recording to the attention of the court and/or the defense, introduced evidence of Det. Gasser's conversation with Mr. Gong and her simultaneous observations of his behavior immediately after he entered the target house but before he was notified that he was being recorded.⁵ RP X 67-68. However, when, on cross examination, Mr. Gong's attorney inquired about the recording, the prosecutor objected to it being mentioned due to the fact that it had been unlawfully recorded. RP V 464-465. Upon further review of the evidence and law, defense counsel agreed with the prosecutor that the conversation had been unlawfully recorded and moved, alternatively: 1) to dismiss the case pursuant to Criminal Rule 8.3; 2) for a mistrial, or 3) to suppress Det. Gasser's testimony about the conversation and her simultaneous observations and

-

10

⁵ The prosecutor explained that, despite knowing that the private conversation was illegally recorded, he didn't bring it to the attention of the defense or court before introducing Det. Gasser's testimony about it because he had determined "on his own" that he had a "good faith" basis to believe her observations were admissible. RP VI 580.

to instruct the jury to disregard that part of Det. Gasser's testimony. RP VI 559-602. After argument the court ruled that the State had violated RCW 9.73 and that the recording of the conversation was inadmissible. RP VI 579-582, CP 145-149. However, the court denied the defense motions and ruled that Det. Gasser's testimony about the conversation and her simultaneous observations were admissible despite having been unlawfully recorded. RP VI 580-583, CP 145-149. The court also prohibited the defense from playing the recording ruling that the "best evidence is not at all admissible." RP VI 582, 604.6 Finally, at the prosecutor's request and over the defendant's objection, the court gave a limiting instruction to the jury suggesting that no recording of the conversation existed. RP VI 602, 606-607; CP 66-67.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW PURSUANT TO RAP 13.4(B)(1) BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS RULING THAT CONTENTS OF AN UNLAWFULLY RECORDED CONVERSATION ARE ADMISSIBLE WHEN THE OFFICER INVOLVED IN THE CONVERSATION IS UNAWARE THAT HER FELLOW OFFICERS ARE RECORDING IS IN CONFLICT WITH MORE RECENT DECISIONS BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT.

⁶ The court indicated that it would consider permitting the defense to play the recording itself but only if Mr. Gong waived his rights under RCW 9.73. RP VI 582-583.

RCW 9.73.030(1) provides that it is unlawful for anyone, including the State of Washington, to intercept or record any:

(b) Private conversations, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless of how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the person engaged in the conversation.

The statute further provides that where consent by all parties is required, it shall be considered obtained whenever one party has announced to all other parties engaged in the conversation that such conversation is about to be recorded provided that the announcement is recorded. RCW 9.73.030(3). In addition, RCW 9.73.050 provides that:

Any information obtained in violation of RCW 9.73.030 or pursuant to any order issued under the provision of RCW 9.73.040 shall be inadmissible in any civil or criminal case in all courts of general or limited jurisdiction in this state, except with the permission of the person whose rights have been violated in an action brought for damages under the provisions of RCW 9.73.030 through 9.73.080, or in any criminal action in which the defendant is charged with a crime, the commission of which would jeopardize national security.

In applying and interpreting RCW 9.73, Washington courts have held strictly to the letter and spirit of the statute. "Washington State's privacy act is considered one of the most restrictive in the nation." *State v. Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d 718, 724, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014) (citing *State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 672, 57 P.3d 255 (2002). The Washington

Supreme Court has repeatedly held that when a private conversation is unlawfully recorded by law enforcement, not only must the recording itself be suppressed but so must all information and observations made simultaneously with the unlawful recording. *See e.g., State v. Salinas*, 121 Wn.2d 689, 697, 853 P.2d 439 (1993); *State v. Faford*; 128 Wn.2d 476, 910 P.2d 447 (1996); *State v. Fjermestad*, 114 Wn.2d 828, 901-902, 791 P.2d 897 (1990) ("Once the police step outside the boundaries delineated by the law, we have no choice but to make inadmissible any information obtained."). What's more, suppression is mandatory of all information obtained by law enforcement during an encounter that was unlawfully recorded or transmitted *even when that information was not obtained through the aid of the unlawful recording or transmission. State v. Salinas*, 121 Wn.2d 689, 697, 853 P.2d 439 (1993) (emphasis added).

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals ruled admissible Det. Gasser's testimony regarding the conversation and her observastions of Mr. Gong that occurred while he was being unlawfully recorded, relying solely on the fact that Det. Gasser herself was unaware that her colleagues on the task force had knowlingly and purposefully begun recording the conversation unlawfully. *See* Appendix A, p. 10. In arriving at this conclusion the Court of Appeals could point to no authority for this from the Washington Supreme Court. Instead, it relied on a court of Appeals

decision, *State v. Grant*, 9 Wn.App. 260, 511 P.2d 1013 (1973). It then pointed to two Washington Supreme Court cases, each over 30 years old, *State v. Williams*, 94 Wn.2d 531, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980) and *State v. Fjermestad*, 14 Wn.2d 828, 791 P.2d 897 (1990) as support for the holding in *Grant*. However, neither *Williams* nor *Fjermestad* affirmed the holding in *Grant*. Rather, in both cases the Washington Supreme Court merely distinguished the facts at issue from those of *Grant*. *See* Appendix A, p. 9-10).

More importantly, the reasoning in *Grant* stands in direct contradiction to the reasoning from that of more recent decisions in which the court established, and the Supreme Court affirmed, what has become known as the "fellow officer rule." This rule holds that police officers who effectuate an arrest are imputed to know facts and evidence that other officers in their department know at the time of the arrest even when the arresting officer his or herself is unaware of those facts and evidence. *See e.g. State v. Maesse*, 29 Wash.App. 642, 647, 629 P.2d 1349 (1981) *review denied*, 96 Wn.2d 1009 (1981) (fellow officer rule permits probable cause to be determined upon the information possessed by the police as a whole when they are acting in concert); *State v. Mance*, 82 Wn.App. 539, 542, 918 P.2d 527 (1996); *State v. White*, 76 Wash.App. 801, 805, 888 P.2d 169 (1995), aff'd, 129 Wn.2d 105, 915 P.2d 1099

(1996). The notion that the "fellow officer rule" imputes knowledge to an officer when it's helpful to law enforcement but does not when it's detrimental is both illogical and legally unsupportable. This is especially true in a situation like the one in Mr. Gong's case where the law enforcement officers are all part of a task force working together on the same case towards the same goal.⁷

What's more, the Washington Supreme Court has clearly established that Washington does <u>not</u> have a "good faith" exception to the exclusionary rule. *See, e.g., State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 181-182, 233 P.3d 879 (2010). When police officers obtain evidence unlawfully it must be suppressed even when those officers are acting in "good faith" and are unaware of the circumstances making their actions unlawful. Consequently, following the reasoning in *Grant* is tantamount to carving out an exception to this well-established Washington safeguard of citizens' rights when it comes to police violations of the Recording Act.⁸

.

⁷ Ironically, had Det. Gasser not known anything about Mr. Gong's text conversations with a fellow undercover task force officer yet arrested him immediately after he arrived at the trap house, the "fellow officer rule" would have imputed the knowledge of other task force members thereby giving her probable cause for the arrest.

⁸ It's significant to note here that in finding what amounts to a good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applied to Recording Act violations, the Division One Court of Appeals is at odds with the Division Two Court of Appeals (where the appeal was originally filed). *See State v. Elmore*, 187 Wn.App. 1009 (2015) (Unpublished). ("Because there is not a "good faith" exception … to the prohibition on admissibility of evidence obtained in violation of the privacy act, the evidence of the recording, including the officers

Finally, cases in the more than 40 years since Williams do not align with the reasoning in *Grant*. To the contrary, in all other cases found by appellant, courts have suppressed all evidence obtained from or during an unlawfully recorded conversation. See e.g., State v. Porter, 98 Wn.App. 631, 635, 990 P.2d 460 (1999) (RCW 9.73 requires suppression of evidence obtained against defendant during unlawfully intercepted conversation between defendant's girlfriend and another individual despite fact that defendant was not a party to the conversation); State v. Faford, 128 Wn.2d 476, 910 P.2d 447 (1996) (Privacy Act requires suppression of evidence of marijuana grow found during execution of search warrant that was based on information that was unlawfully intercepted by a private citizen); State v. Salinas, 121 Wn.2d 689, 697, 853 P.2d 439 (1993) (suppression is mandatory of all information obtained by law enforcement during unlawfully transmitted encounter despite fact that information was not obtained through the aid of the unlawful transmission; *State v. Baird*, 83 Wn.App. 477, 922 P.2d 157 (1996) (interests served by enforcement of the Privacy Act justified suppression of conversation unlawfully recorded by defendant despite his constitutional right to present a defense).

observations and communications with the defendants, and all evidence subsequently obtained as a result of the unlawful recording of the defendants, is hereby suppressed."). It is both illogical and legally unsupportable to hold that the Privacy Act suppresses conversation under all of the circumstances outlined above but only if the testifying officer knew that other officers he or she was working with at the time were unlawfully recording the conversation. And, if this is not the state of the law, the Washington Supreme Court needs to clarify this immediately. Washington citizen are being convicted of crimes on the backs of such evidence and the rapidly increasing use of recording devices by both private citizens and law enforcement will only serve to make this issue more prevalent in criminal matters.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should accept Mr. Gong's petition for review and reverse his conviction.