FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/15/2022 10:20 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101013-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JUNJIE GONG,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Kathryn Nelson

No. 18-1-02954-8

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 31762 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-6517

## **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. The unpublished opinion does not conflict with any opinion of this Court.

The Petitioner Gong asserts a consideration under RAP 13.4(b)(1), i.e., that the unpublished opinion is in conflict with a decision of this Court. Pet. at 11. There is no conflict.

Gong criticizes a case which both this Court and the United States Supreme Court had an opportunity to review and declined to reverse. Pet. at 13-14 (citing *State v. Grant*, 9 Wn. App. 260, 511 P.2d 1013, *review denied*, 83 Wn.2d 1003 (1973), *cert. denied*, 419 U.S. 849, 95 S.Ct. 87, 42 L.Ed.2d 78 (1974)). However, he does not identify any conflict with *Grant* or with any other privacy case.

Rather, Gong alleges that, under the "fellow officer rule," courts must impute illegal conduct to an innocent officer whose evidence is not the result of the exploitation of any illegality. Because this is neither the substance nor the reasoning of the rule, the decision in his case does not conflict with the cases describing the "fellow officer rule."

# 1. This Court has cited *Grant* favorably and expanded upon it.

As Gong acknowledges this Court has favorably cited *Grant* as an available exception. Pet. at 14. *Grant* and subsequent, related cases are concerned with law enforcement officers who knowingly and willfully violate the Privacy Act.

[W]hen an officer knowingly transmits a private conversation, without court authorization or without the consent of all the parties, any evidence obtained, including simultaneous visual observation and assertive gestures, is inadmissible in a criminal trial. This decision does not hamstring the goals of law enforcement, but only preserves the integrity of the police and the privacy of individuals.

. . .

once the police step outside the boundaries delineated by the law, we have no choice but to make inadmissible any information obtained.

State v. Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d 828, 836-37, 791 P.2d 897 (1990); accord State v. Salinas, 121 Wn.2d 689, 853 P.2d 439 (1993) (Det. Johal's observations were inadmissible during the time he knowingly wore an unauthorized body wire); State v. Porter, 98 Wn. App. 631, 990 P.2d 460 (1999) (excluding all information obtained during unlawful police recording of

conversations). However, "the privacy act does not apply to excluding the testimony of a police officer who participates in an illegally transmitted or recorded conversation *when that officer is unaware of the illegality.*" *Fjermestad*, 114 Wn.2d at 834 (citing *Grant*) (emphasis added).

Gong argues that this Court has not affirmed, but only distinguished, *Grant*. Pet. at 14 (citing *Fjermestad* and *State v*. *Williams*, 94 Wn.2d 531, 543, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980)). This misrepresents the significance of this Court's attention to *Grant*. Of course, a court cannot "affirm" a case that is not before it. But this Court has certainly cited *Grant* favorably and built upon it. Both *Fjermestad* and *Williams* specifically noted that they were reaching the question *Grant* left open, i.e., where the officer was "a party to the illegal recording and taping." *Fjermestad*, 114 Wn.2d at 834; *State v. Williams*, 94 Wn.2d 531, 543, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980).

In our own case, we do not have any concern that law enforcement was attempting to circumvent a judge's refusal to authorize a wiretap or otherwise willfully violating any law. The officers merely pressed the record button a few seconds before they entered, not anticipating that any conversation of import would occur in those few seconds. And, in fact, the few seconds of conversation at the door was insignificant. Everything needed to convict Gong was in his one and a half hours of text messages with the Net Nanny profile and was confirmed by the condoms in his pocket and car and the gift of the Slurpee that little "Kaci" had requested. Op. at 2-3; Exh. 2. Most importantly, the trooper who opened the door had no knowledge of the decision when to begin the recording.

The court of appeals correctly applied *Grant* which has been cited by this Court with favor. Gong does not demonstrate or claim a conflict with any privacy case of this Court or any published privacy case of the court of appeals.

2. The "fellow officer rule" does not impute illegality to an innocent other, nor is there a basis to suppress evidence which was not come at by any exploitation.

Petitioner Gong argues that *Grant* contradicts the reasoning behind the "fellow officer rule." Pet. at 14. It does not. The "fellow officer rule" is a rule about *probable cause* in the context of the Fourth Amendment right to be free from warrantless searches or seizures of person or property. Gong does not challenge any finding of probable cause or raise any Fourth Amendment concern. The rule is not relevant.

The "fellow officer rule" is a rule for determining the existence of probable cause based on the "cumulative knowledge of police officers." *State v. Ortega*, 177 Wn.2d 116, 126, 297 P.3d 57 (2013); *see also Whiteley v. Warden, Wyo. State Penitentiary*, 401 U.S. 560, 568, 91 S. Ct. 1031, 28 L. Ed. 2d 306 (1971). It provides that an arresting officer who does not personally possess sufficient information to constitute probable cause may still make a warrantless arrest if (1) they act upon the direction or as a result of a communication from a fellow officer,

and (2) the police, as a whole, possess sufficient information to constitute probable cause. *State v. Butler*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 549, 570, 411 P.3d 393 (2018) (*citing State v. Maesse*, 29 Wn. App. 642, 646–47, 629 P.2d 1349 (1981)). The fellow officer rule will not justify bad faith arrests. *State v. Alvarado*, 56 Wn. App. 454, 456–57, 783 P.2d 1106 (1989).

Gong argues that if knowledge of probable cause can be imputed to a fellow officer, then it is reasonable to impute illegal behavior to an innocent fellow officer. Pet. at 15. It is not at all reasonable. Gong completely ignores the contexts of and the reasoning behind each rule. It is not at all reasonable to assume or impute that every officer knows what any one officer knows in every context.

The fellow officer rule recognizes that probable cause can result from a third party's reasonably trustworthy information; that a fellow officer is presumed reliable and therefore a source of reasonably trustworthy information; and that a fellow officer who requests or directs an arrest understands that an arrest must

be justified by probable cause. *State v. Gluck*, 83 Wn.2d 424, 426–27, 518 P.2d 703 (1974); 12 Wash. Prac. § 2506 (3d ed.); 32 Wash. Prac. § 20:13 (2021-2022 ed.). In other words, we impute probable cause knowledge, because an arresting officer may reasonably trust a directing officer as a reliable source of information on the subject of probable cause. And if it turns out there was no probable cause, the fruits will be excluded in court.

But it is never reasonable to impute criminality to an innocent other.

The fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine suppresses evidence that is come at by the *exploitation* of an illegality. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 488, 83 S. Ct. 407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963). But no exploitation occurred here. Trooper Gasser did not learn or recall Gong's statement because other officers began to record a few seconds too early. She opened the door to the target house lawfully. She spoke to Gong lawfully. And her recollection of that conversation was not influenced by the recording, because she never reviewed the

recording. She relied entirely upon her own memory. It would not be reasonable to impute any illegality to her information.

Gong raises a strawman argument, claiming that the State is relying on a "good faith" exception. Pet. at 15. It is not that Trooper Gasser acted in "good faith" in having a fleeting conversation with Gong. It is that her knowledge of Gong's few words before arrest was not come at by the exploitation of any illegality. And it is not reasonable to impute bad faith or unlawful behavior to her. The courts suppress evidence to deter governmental misconduct. Trooper Gasser did nothing wrong. There is nothing to deter.

Grant does not conflict with the "fellow officer rule." And the lower courts made no error.

### V. CONCLUSION

Because the Petitioner fails to identify any RAP 13.4(b) basis for review, the petition must be denied.

///

///

This document contains 2,986 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.